STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Oct 12 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEVIN JAMEL JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000938

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in admitting Appellant's statement to a police officer, which was given over the course of a five-hour interrogation, where the statement was not given knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily in light of the totality of the circumstances, including (1) the officer's repeated refusal to permit Appellant an opportunity to smoke a cigarette, (2) the officer's statement that cigarettes were for cooperators, (3) the officer's statement that non-cooperators got prison, not cigarettes, and (4) the officer's threat that Appellant would never see his daughter again?

II. Did the trial judge err in removing the juror where (1) the juror's failure to disclose was unintentional and innocently made, as agreed upon by all parties and found by the trial judge and (2) the juror indicated he could remain fair and impartial, where his decision was based upon the solicitor's self-serving claim that she would have exercised a peremptory challenge to a juror who revealed mid-trial that he knew an inconsequential witness?

III. Violating Appellant's right to due process of law, did the trial judge err in instructing the jury concerning accomplice liability, specifically regarding the theory that "the hand of one is the hand of all," where the state failed to present any evidence that Appellant acted in concert with another?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 10, 2018, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2018-GS-10-6264) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 608 – R. 609; R. 612 – R. 613. The state, represented by Stephanie B. Linder and Price Sigal, called the case for trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., and a jury on April 1-4, 2019. R. 1. John J. Kozelski, III, and Tola Familoni represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder pursuant to an accomplice liability theory. R. 492, ll. 15-18. Accordingly, the jury found Appellant not guilty of possessing a weapon. R. 492, ll. 19-23. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to thirty-six years imprisonment. R. 493, l. 24 – R. 494, l. 1; R. 614.

On April 15, 2018, Appellant filed a motion for new trial. R. 600. On May 29, 2019, Judge Dennis presided over a hearing on the motion. R. 497. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Dennis denied the motion. R. 516, l. 11.

On May 29, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in admitting Appellant's statement to a police officer, which was given over the course of a five-hour interrogation, where the statement was not given knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily in light of the totality of the circumstances, including (1) the officer's repeated refusal to permit Appellant an opportunity to smoke a cigarette, (2) the officer's statement that cigarettes were for cooperators, (3) the officer's statement that non-cooperators got prison, not cigarettes, and (4) the officer's threat that Appellant would never see his daughter again.

Relevant facts

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to suppress his video-recorded statement to law enforcement. R. 517. David Osborne, who previously worked for the City of Charleston Police Department, but was an Assistant Solicitor at the time of the trial, interrogated Appellant on June 10, 2011, two days after Smalls' death. R. 31, l. 13 – R. 32, l. 16; R. 34, ll. 13-15. The five-hour interrogation began with Osborne requesting a buccal swab from Appellant pursuant to a search warrant, which was provided to Appellant for review. State's Exhibit #80 at 21:03. Immediately before and after Osborne swabbed Appellant's mouth, Appellant asked Osborne if he could have a cigarette. Initially, Osborne responded that he *may* be able to work that out. State's Exhibit #80 at 21:05-21:06.

A different officer then read the arrest warrants and left Appellant with the paperwork. State's Exhibit #80 at 21:08-21:12. After Osborne demanded Appellant's clothing, Appellant asked for water and a cigarette. Although Osborne agreed, but provided neither. R. 47, ll. 10-12; R. 48, ll. 12-14; State's Exhibit #80 at 21:13-21:14. During the hearing, Osborne claimed that he did not recall ever offering Appellant anything to drink, but he knew that he would have. R. 35, ll. 20-22.

Shortly thereafter, Osborne advised Appellant of his rights pursuant to Miranda.¹ R. 37, l. 21 – R. 38, l. 10; State’s Exhibit #80 at 21:19. Although Appellant indicated he understood his rights, there was no request by Osborne that Appellant waive those rights. State’s Exhibit #80 at 21:19.

Initially, Appellant told Osborne that he was at home in Orangeburg on June 8, 2011. R. 40, ll. 8-15; State’s Exhibit #80 at 21:21-21:44. Forty-five minutes into the interrogation, Osborne became exasperated and aggressive. R. 40, l. 22 – R. 41, l. 15; State’s Exhibit #80 at 21:45. When Appellant requested a cigarette an hour into the interview, Osborne informed him that individuals who cooperate get cigarettes, and individuals who fail to cooperate go to prison. R. 41, ll. 21-23; State’s Exhibit #80 at 22:12. Osborne elaborated on this notion by telling Appellant that if he cooperated, he would get a cigarette, but if he failed to cooperate, he would not. State’s Exhibit #80 at 23:46. At another point when Appellant requested a cigarette, Osborne refused stating a cigarette would not change the trouble he was in. State’s Exhibit #80 at 22:29-22:30. An hour later, Appellant begged for a cigarette, comparing his nicotine habit to a heroin addict. At this, Osborne responded that if Appellant told what happened, they would walk outside and have a cigarette. R. 48, ll. 20-24; State’s Exhibit #80 at 23:20-23:21. Within minutes, Appellant asked for a cigarette again. Osborne responded, “We are not going to have a cigarette until we get a truthful story out of you.” State’s Exhibit #80 at 23:24. Three hours into the interrogation, Appellant remained steadfast that he was in Orangeburg and had requested a cigarette multiple times. State’s Exhibit #80 at 22:05; 22:12; 22:29; 23:20; 23:24; 23:46.

When the show of aggression did not yield the results Osborne wanted, he switched gears and threatened Appellant with his ability to see his daughter. R. 42, ll. 21-23. Osborne told

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Appellant he would never see his daughter again because he was facing a murder charge. R. 43, ll. 1-3. Osborne decided to try a new interrogation strategy – allowing Appellant to contact his mother and girlfriend using Osborne’s phone. R. 43, l. 22 – R. 44, l. 7; State’s Exhibit #80 at 00:20. Thereafter, approximately four hours into the interrogation, Appellant stated he was at Georgetown Apartments, but denied he was involved in the shooting death of Smalls. R. 45, ll. 11-16.

During the hearing, Osborne admitted that Appellant asked him repeatedly for a cigarette. R. 36, ll. 3-8; R. 42, ll. 8-11. He further admitted that he had allowed individuals to smoke during interrogations. R. 36, ll. 13-15. Osborne explained his rationale:

[W]ell, it depends on what they’re arrested for, but if they’re arrested for murder, you certainly need to think about safety. He has to be shackled. You need a belt harness or a security belt that you could loop the handcuffs through. I certainly wouldn’t do it by myself regardless, but - - but either way, there certainly needs to be a level of comfortable where I’m comfortable with him that I’m going to walk outside and allow him to have a cigarette in his hand.

R. 36, l. 19 – R. 37, l. 2.

Osborne denied that he used the promise of a cigarette in an effort to get what he wanted. R. 51, ll. 9-14. Despite admitting he told Appellant that cigarettes were for cooperators, Osborne refused to categorize this statement as using the promise of a cigarette to get Appellant to provide him with more information about Smalls’ death. R. 51, l. 9 – R. 52, l. 1.

Osborne did not think “nicotine [was] that addictive.” R. 47, ll. 22-23. While he admitted that heroin was “a very addictive substance,” he was unwilling to even admit that nicotine was an “addictive substance.” R. 47, l. 24 – R. 48, l. 5.

Defense counsel argued to suppress the statement based upon the totality of the circumstances. First, counsel noted the interrogation “went on for almost 5 hours.” R. 54, l. 19. Second, the denial of nicotine to an addict affected Appellant’s understanding and ability to voluntarily waive his rights. R. 54, l. 23 – R. 55, l. 4. Third, as Osborne mentioned during the

interrogation, Appellant was not familiar with the criminal justice system. R. 55, ll. 5-9. Fourth, the officers threatened Appellant with the loss of his daughter due to his arrest for murder in order to further manipulate and reduce his will. R. 55, ll. 10-15; R. 56, ll. 20-25. Finally, defense counsel explained how the police promised Appellant an opportunity to smoke a cigarette if he would simply give them the information they desired. R. 55, ll. 16-22.

To rebut Osborne's purported claim that he refused to allow Appellant to smoke based upon "potential physical harm," defense counsel noted the numerous times during the interrogation in which Appellant and Osborne were alone in the interrogation room together. R. 55, l. 23 – R. 56, l. 3. In fact, Osborne provided Appellant with his cell phone and allowed Appellant to remain in the room alone and unsupervised. R. 56, ll. 3-8. Osborne never displayed any fear of Appellant throughout the entire five-hour interrogation. R. 56, ll. 9-19.

Osborne and his fellow officer acted to "wear down the will" of Appellant over the five hour interrogation. R. 56, ll. 17-19. Looking at all of the facts as a whole, defense counsel moved to suppress the statement. R. 57, ll. 1-8.

The trial judge was unmoved by defense counsel's argument or the evidence presented. The judge determined that Appellant's cognitive skills and awareness were evident during his telephone calls with his girlfriend and mother. R. 59, ll. 1-7. Further, the judge found that Appellant changed his story because of his conversation with his mother, not because of any promise of cigarettes. R. 59, ll. 8-12; R. 60, ll. 3-7. According to the judge, "the only coercion was from whomever he was talking to on the phone." R. 61, ll. 13-14.

Following the judge's ruling, David Osborne took the stand. Osborne explained that "what [he] wanted to do was to first tell him or try to get him to admit that he was in Georgetown and then [go] rom there." R. 220, ll. 17-20. According to Osborne, "for several hours, [he] didn't get past

the first step because he said he was never in Georgetown. He said he was in Orangeburg the entire day.” R. 220, ll. 20-22. Unable to dispute the evidence contained on the video, Osborne admitted that he was “a little bit more confrontational about some things” as the interrogation progressed. R. 223, ll. 9-11. He noted this was a strategy. He told the jury that there were certain things the police could do and certainly could not do. R. 223, ll. 14-16. According to Osborne, “You can’t threaten them. You can’t, you know, put your hands on somebody. You can’t threaten them. You can’t, you know, promise them things.” R. 223, ll. 17-18. He even claimed that a detective could not falsify a document to make it look like he had evidence he did not have. R. 223, ll. 18-20. He then asserted he could “lie to them, ... misrepresent evidence.” R. 223, ll. 21-24.

In reference to a portion of the interrogation in which Osborne was “very sarcastic,” he indicated it was “probably not a good technique” and blamed its use on his lack of sleep. R. 224, l. 22 – R. 225, l. 1. 2. When he admitted that he was “getting a little irritated” during the interrogation, he again blamed his “lack of sleep.” R. 226, ll. 5-6. The prosecution played portions of the video of Appellant’s interrogation. As clearly evidenced by the video, Osborne was confrontational and aggressive with Appellant when Osborne thought Appellant was untruthful. R. 227, ll. 14-17. Almost three hours into the interview, Osborne raised his voice because Appellant maintained he was in Orangeburg, not at the apartments. R. 227, ll. 14-17. Although Osborne allowed Appellant bathroom breaks and water, Osborne repeatedly refused to allow Appellant the opportunity to smoke. R. 227, l. 21 – R. 228, l. 3.

Regarding Appellant’s requests for cigarettes, Osborne told the jurors that there was nothing that required him to give a cigarette to an individual. R. 228, ll. 10-12. He then repeated his testimony from the pre-trial hearing in which he painted the laborious scene of having to “put leg irons on them, ... put a belt restraint on them so that their hands would be handcuffed close like

this.” R. 228, ll. 17-23. He insisted that “a lot of planning” would be required for someone to smoke during an interrogation. R. 228, ll. 24-25. He was emphatic that he would never take someone to smoke by himself. R. 228, l. 25 – R. 229, l.1. He would “want maybe two or three guys.” R. 229, l. 3. In order “to use manpower and resources” for a smoke break, he required “ a certain comfort level with someone.” R. 229, ll. 4-7. This included “feel[ing] like they’re cooperating with the investigation, that they appreciate where they’re at,” especially for a murder case. R. 229, ll. 7-11. He “never reached that level to feel ... comfortable walking outside” with Appellant, “especially with the charge that he had pending.” R. 229, ll. 12-14. Contrary to what was contained on the video, Osborne claimed he told Appellant “no” when he requested a cigarette. R. 229, ll. 14-15. He caught himself, though, and admitted he told Appellant “cigarettes are for cooperators,” which he claimed he did in one of his “more frustrated moments.” R. 229, ll. 15-17.

He also admitted that he talked to Appellant about his daughter. R. 229, ll. 18-22. He did this because Appellant did not appreciate the situation he was in and he thought a reminder of what he had to lose would help him to appreciate that he was facing a murder charge. R. 229, l. 24 – R. 230, l. 4; R. 262, l. 14 – R. 263, l. 11. He wanted to impress upon Appellant the consequences he was facing when he told Appellant that “other men [were] going to raise her.” R. 263, ll. 1-11.

Despite the alleged level of distrust Osborne had for Appellant, he left Appellant alone in the room to call his mother and girlfriend. R. 230, l. 14 – R. 233, l. 10. After this phone call, Osborne claimed Appellant “changed his story about being in Orangeburg.” R. 233, ll. 12-14. Although Appellant told Osborne he was at Georgetown Apartments, he denied any involvement in the shooting. R. 264, ll. 16-23.

Relying upon the video and Osborne’s testimony, during her closing argument, the solicitor told the jurors that part of Appellant’s “cover up” of the shooting was his “four-hour” lie to the

police about being in Orangeburg. R. 449, ll. 18-21. The solicitor claimed Appellant showed “no emotion” regarding Smalls’ death. R. 449, ll. 20-21. She reminded the jurors of Appellant’s phone calls with his girlfriend and mother during the interrogation. R. 449, l. 22 – R. 450, l. 13. She described the interrogation as showing Appellant as “very calculated in all of this.” R. 450, ll. 6-7. According to the solicitor, when Appellant “realized he was caught,” he did not tell truth then, but he came “up with a new lie.” R. 450, ll. 13-15. The interrogation was one of the “puzzle pieces” the solicitor claimed would result in Appellant’s conviction. R. 450, l. 22 – R. 451, l. 9.

Discussion

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996); State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Crawley, 349 S.C. 459, 463, 562 S.E.2d 683, 685 (Ct. App. 2002). The waiver has two distinct dimensions. It must be “voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,” and it must be “made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986); see also State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 25, 339 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1986). It is not enough that the interrogator advised the suspect of his rights and the suspect

made an uncoerced statement. The prosecution must show that the accused understood the rights. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (citing Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 573-575 (1987); Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 530 (1987)).

In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant's will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.

Id. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (internal citations omitted). The test requires consideration of “totality of all the surrounding circumstances – both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation.” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000)(citations omitted).

“A statement may not be ‘extracted by any sort of threats or violence, [or] obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, [or] obtained by the exertion of improper influence.’” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 386, 652 S.E.2d 444, 452 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990)).

In State v. Owens, 643 N.W.2d 735, 750-751 (S.D. 2002), the South Dakota Supreme Court found a statement given to police during custodial interrogation was voluntary in light of the totality of the circumstances. Those circumstances included the suspect's age of thirty-seven, his average intelligence, and the officer's advisement of rights. Id. at 750. Further, the court noted the suspect

had “broke[n] off the questioning on more than one occasion” showing his knowledge of his right to silence. The court recognized the interview was lengthy, but noted “it was not particularly adversarial or coercive” where there was “substantial give-and-take” between the officer and the suspect. Finally, the court explained there was “no evidence was of any physical punishment” where the suspect was not deprived of sleep, and he was supplied with soda and cigarettes.” Id. at 750-751.

In State v. Cook, 847 A.2d 530, 547-548 (N.J. 2004), the New Jersey Supreme Court found a statement given to police was voluntary based on an examination of the totality of the circumstances. The Court noted that although the suspect, who was a high school graduate, was very emotional over the course of the nine-hour interrogation, he received intermittent breaks, drinks, cigarettes, and bathroom breaks. Id. at 547. The Court’s concerns about the lengthy interrogation were assuaged by the fact that it occurred “all during the general work day, and there was no indication that he was sleep deprived, or that he was in any way physically or mentally abused.” Id.

Appellant’s statement was the product of coercive police practices and should have been excluded. The interrogation occurred over a five-hour period – lengthy by any measurement. The interrogation occurred during the evening hours, not beginning until 9 p.m. and not ending until after one in the morning on the following day. Appellant was exhausted physically and mentally as evidenced by his placing his head on the table. Appellant had limited involvement with law enforcement. Osborne was well aware of this fact and brought it to Appellant’s attention repeatedly as he tried to “advise” Appellant on the best way to negotiate through the system. State’s Exhibit #80 at 21:36; 21:44; 21:57; 22:02; 22:08; 22:38; 22:41; 22:46 (“You are ignorant to the system.”); 22:54; 23:06; 23:16; 23:21; 23:36; 23:50. The detectives repeatedly used Appellant’s six-year old

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