RECEIVED

Sep 28 2020

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000938

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DEVIN JAMEL JOHNSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400

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

²⁴ Appellant mistakenly states that the trial judge was referencing the Supreme Court's decision in *Coaxum*. Yet, as discussed *infra*, only this Court found that he had abused his discretion because the failure to disclose was unintentional. The Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion.

The trial judge further observed that Juror # 7 had been sleeping at times and that this was important to his decision. The trial judge stated that his concern was that if Juror # 7 “missed a point,” he might rely on his knowledge of [Ms. Morgan] whom he knew.” The trial judge further noted that Ms. Morgan had “an unusual personality and that was noted by her responses coming up [to the stand],” which might impact a juror who knew her. Thus, he understood the State rethinking its initial position and asking for the juror’s removal. *R. 423-25*.

B. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in removing Juror # 7.

“In essence, the right to jury trial guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial, ‘indifferent’ jurors.” *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961). However, “the law is well settled that the defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury or jurors and has the right only to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.” *State v. Rogers*, 263 S.C. 373, 382, 210 S.E.2d 604, 609 (1974). Also, it is the trial judge’s the duty to ensure that a jury comprised solely of fair, impartial, and unbiased jurors is impaneled. *State v. Powers*, 331 S.C. 37, 43, 501 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1998); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1010 (Supp. 2020). Respondent submits that the facts surrounding the trial judge’s decision to remove Juror # 7 and replace him with an alternate closely parallel the facts in the Supreme Court’s decision in *State v. Coaxum*, 410 S.C. 320, 764 S.E.2d 242 (2014) and that there clearly was no abuse of discretion under *Coaxum*.

As in this case, Juror # 7 in *Coaxum* failed to respond when the trial judge asked on voir dire whether “any members of the jury panel [were] related [by] blood or marriage, socially or casually connected with [Coaxum], or that have any business dealings, any connection whatsoever?” Juror # 7 was then seated. *Id.* at 325, 764 S.E.2d at 244. After the State had presented half of its witnesses, the trial judge “received a note from the jury foreperson indicating that Juror # 7 recognized one of [Coaxum’s] family members sitting in the

courtroom.” *Id.* After the trial judge’s “off-the-record discussion with the juror to determine the nature of her relationship with the family member and whether she could remain impartial during the trial,” he reported that “Juror # 7 and [Coaxum’s] family member were co-workers, and that the family member previously claimed that Juror # 7 was a ‘distant cousin.’” *Id.*

The juror “indicated that, once she recognized [Coaxum’s] family member, she felt uncomfortable not disclosing the working and family relationship between the two.” Yet, she stated that “the working and family relationships would not affect her decision in the trial.” *Id.* Although the juror’s initial nondisclosure during voir dire was unintentional, the Assistant Solicitor asked that she be removed from the jury because ““these types of relationships ... [,] ultimately she may not be able to put it out of her mind,”” and the Assistant Solicitor indicated that he would have exercised one of the State’s three remaining peremptory challenges against the juror if he had “known of the relationship” between the juror and Coaxum, “no matter how tenuous.” *Id.*

Coaxum “argued for a public policy against replacing jurors in the middle of a trial” because alternate jurors allegedly do not pay close attention to the evidence. *Id.* at 326, 764 S.E.2d at 244. The trial judge granted the State’s motion to excuse Juror # 7 because even though her failure to initially disclose her relationship with Coaxum’s family member did not support a challenge for cause, he found that “the connection would have been a legitimate basis for the State’s exercise of its peremptory strikes, and that the State would have struck Juror # 7 had she disclosed the connection.” *Id.*

On direct appeal, this Court found that the trial judge had abused his discretion by excusing the juror “because, in essence, a trial court may remove a juror mid-trial only if the juror has intentionally failed to disclose.” *Id.* at 326, 764 S.E.2d at 245. However, the Supreme

Court granted the State's subsequent petition for writ of certiorari and reversed this Court's decision. In the course of reversing, the Court explained that:

We have previously held that a new trial is required “*only* when the court finds the juror intentionally concealed the information, and that the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges.” *Woods*, 345 S.C. at 587, 550 S.E.2d at 284 (emphasis added). In the face of a juror's intentional nondisclosure of pertinent information during voir dire, “it may be inferred, nothing to the contrary appearing, that the juror is not impartial.” *Id.* at 587–88, 550 S.E.2d at 284. Thus, should the trial court fail to replace such a juror or grant a mistrial, the party need only demonstrate the error of the trial court's decision by proving the concealment was, in fact, intentional; however, the party need not show prejudice, as the bias against the moving party is inferred, and prejudice from the moving party's inability to strike the juror is apparent. *Id.* at 589, 550 S.E.2d at 285.

In contrast, if a juror's nondisclosure is unintentional, the trial court may exercise its discretion in determining whether to proceed with the trial with the jury as is, replace the juror with an alternate, or declare a mistrial.⁶ *Cf. id.* (“ ‘Only where a juror's intentional nondisclosure does not involve a material issue, or where the nondisclosure is *unintentional*, should the trial court inquire into prejudice.’ ” (quoting *Doyle v. Kennedy Heating & Serv., Inc.*, 33 S.W.3d 199, 201 (Mo.Ct.App.2000))). Paralleling the inquiry in cases of intentional concealment, the trial court in the unintentional concealment situation must determine whether the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in a party's exercise of its peremptory challenges. *State v. Stone*, 350 S.C. 442, 448, 567 S.E.2d 244, 247–48 (2002) (citing *Woods*, 345 S.C. at 587–88, 550 S.E.2d at 284).

^{FN6} See, e.g., *State v. Sparkman*, 358 S.C. 491, 495–98, 596 S.E.2d 375, 377–78 (2004) (affirming the trial court's refusal to replace a juror when, after the verdict but before the sentencing hearing, the defendant became aware of the juror's unintentional nondisclosure during voir dire); *State v. Stone*, 350 S.C. 442, 448–49, 567 S.E.2d 244, 247–48 (2002) (finding the trial court abused its discretion in removing a juror during the punishment phase of a death penalty trial because of the juror's unintentional nondisclosure during voir dire); *Kelly*, 331 S.C. at 139–44, 502 S.E.2d 99 (affirming the trial court's decision to remove a juror midtrial and replace the juror with an alternate because the juror appeared to be biased); *Williams*, 321 S.C. at 459–60, 469 S.E.2d at 52 (same); *McDaniel*, 275 S.C. at 224, 268 S.E.2d at 586 (same).

However, “where the failure to disclose is innocent, no inference of bias can be drawn.” *Woods*, 345 S.C. at 589, 550 S.E.2d at 285. Accordingly, the moving party has a heightened burden to show that the concealed information indicates the juror is potentially biased, and that the concealed information would have been a material factor in the party's exercise of its peremptory challenges. In other words, the moving party must show that it was prejudiced by the concealment because it was unable to strike a potential—and material—source of bias.

Coaxum, 410 S.C. at 328-29, 764 S.E.2d at 245-46.

The Court observed that its “previous decisions have not focused on the need for this prejudice analysis,” and that this Court “has periodically omitted it when considering cases involving a juror's unintentional nondisclosure during voir dire.” *Id.* at 329, 764 S.E.2d at 246. The Court noted that this Court had applied the same analysis as it applied in *State v. Burgess*, 391 S.C. 15, 19–20, 703 S.E.2d 512, 514–15 (Ct.App.2010), which authorized removal only if the two criteria from *Woods* are present and because the juror’s failure to disclose was unintentional, the juror could not be excused. The Supreme Court explained, however, that “[w]hile the information concealed in *Burgess* may not have been material—and thus the court of appeals may have reached the correct result in that case—it [was] too broad to say that, in all cases, when the concealment is unintentional, it is automatically immaterial.” *Coaxum*, 410 S.C. at 330, 764 S.E.2d at 247.

The Court found that “[w]hile the trial court likely would have been justified in refusing to excuse Juror # 7 from the jury, its decision to remove her is not an abuse of discretion given the thorough inquiry it conducted into the solicitor's strategy in seating or striking prospective jurors. *Id.* at 330-31, 764 S.E.2d at 247 (citing [*State v. Kelly*, 331 S.C. 132, 142, 502 S.E.2d 99, 104 (1998)]; and [*State v. McDaniel*, 275 S.C. 222, 224, 268 S.E.2d 585, 586 (1980)]). Finally, the Court concluded that “as there is no question the jury was impartial after Juror # 7's

removal,” Coaxum could not show any prejudice from the excusal of the juror and was not entitled to a new trial. *Coaxum*, 410 S.C. at 331, 764 S.E.2d at 247.

Here, there was no abuse of discretion. The same trial judge as in *Coaxum* found that Juror # 7’s knowledge of the witness, although inadvertently concealed, indicated the juror was potentially biased, and that the same Solicitor’s Office as in *Coaxum* “was prejudiced by the concealment because it was unable to strike a potential—and material—source of bias.” *Id.* at 329, 764 S.E.2d at 246. The trial judge also found that the State’s statement that it would have struck Juror # 7 if aware of the concealed information because of uncertainty as to how that knowledge might impact the juror’s impartiality²⁵ was not pretextual because neither he nor Appellant were aware of the State seating any juror who knew a potential witness. *Cf. State v. Robinson*, 330 N.C. 1, 18-19, 409 S.E.2d 288, 298 (1991) (finding African-American juror’s failure to disclose knowledge of officer in case and uncertainty in ability to impose death sentence were nondiscriminatory reasons supporting State’s strike under *Batson*). Additionally, the trial judge was concerned that Juror # 7 might rely on his knowledge of Ms. Morgan because the trial judge had observed him sleeping during the course of live testimony.²⁶ Respondent likewise notes that Ms. Morgan’s son, Diangelo Bumcum also testified and Juror # 7’s

²⁵ Again, the State’s reason was very similar to the reason given in *Coaxum*.

²⁶ There is no merit to Appellant’s contention - raised for the first time on appeal - that the trial judge only mentioned that he had observed Juror # 7 sleeping because of his concerns over this Court’s decision in *Coaxum*. To the contrary, the judge had placed this observation on the record apparently before reading *Coaxam*. Also, because the record contains no mention of another juror sleeping in the trial, an extremely reasonable inference from the record is that Juror # 7 was the unnamed male juror whom the trial judge and the State had observed sleeping during the trial that was discussed before Appellant’s cross-examination of Sgt. Osborne. Moreover, sleeping during trial testimony is a form of juror misconduct that supports excusing a juror if the trial judge finds prejudice therefrom. *See, e.g., State v. Smith*, 338 S.C. 66, 71-76, 525 S.E.2d 263, 265-68 (Ct. App. 1999). Yet, even if Appellant was correct, his argument is not preserved for this Court’s review because it was not presented to and ruled on by the trial judge. *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996).

knowledge of Ms. Morton potentially have impacted his assessment of Bumcum's testimony. Respondent submits that the trial judge's factual findings are not clearly erroneous. See *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 5–6, 545 S.E.2d at 829.

Moreover, Appellant cannot meet his burden to show any prejudice from the trial judge's ruling. The trial judge replaced Juror # 7 with the first alternate, whom he selected at Appellant's request. There is no suggestion that the first alternate was not properly qualified and, "as there is no question the jury was impartial after Juror # 7's removal," Appellant could not show any prejudice from the excusal of the juror and was not entitled to a new trial. *Coaxum*, 410 S.C. at 331, 764 S.E.2d at 247. See also *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 459-60, 469 S.E.2d 49, 52 (1996) (defendant suffered no discernible prejudice from the removal of the juror because the juror was replaced with a qualified alternate juror).

Unable to show an abuse of discretion under *Coaxum*,²⁷ Appellant argues that it should be overruled and that a party should not be required to show prejudice from the excusal of a juror who unintentionally fails to disclose knowing a potential witness on voir dire. Aside from the fact "decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents." S.C. Const. art. V, § 9; *State v. Patrick*, 318 S.C. 352, 358, 457 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct.App. 1995), the Supreme Court was merely explaining that its earlier opinions required a showing of prejudice but had not always focused on that requirement. *Coaxam*, 410 S.C. at 329-31, 764 S.E.2d at 246-47. Worse,

²⁷ Appellant's contentions that the State "state failed to provide a detailed strategy for its exercise of peremptory strikes," that "the relationship between Juror [# 7] and the witness was a 'scant acquaintance,'" and that the trial judge only made a limited inquiry of Juror # 7's knowledge of Ms. Morgan are procedurally barred because they were not presented to and ruled on by the trial judge. *Watts*, 321 S.C. at 167, 467 S.E.2d at 278. See also *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal"). Moreover, the State was not asked to explain its one strike and it indicated that it would have struck Juror # 7 "out of an abundance of caution" for the reasons it had stated. Also, the record does not reflect the extent to which the trial judge questioned Juror # 7 about his knowledge of Ms. Morgan.

he has not advanced any sound reason for not requiring a showing of prejudice, since he “ha[d] no right to a trial by any particular jury or jurors,” and only “the right ... to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.” *Rogers*, 263 S.C. at 382, 210 S.E.2d at 609. Other jurisdictions have concluded that a defendant cannot show prejudice from excusal of a juror for misconduct where a qualified alternate is seated in the juror’s stead because the jury convicting the defendant was fair and impartial. *See, e.g., United States v. Gonzales-Balderas*, 11 F.3d 1218, 1222 (5th Cir. 1994) (“In any event, Gonzales-Balderas does not contest the impartiality of the panel that actually judged his case. This is fatal to his objection”); *Lowry v. State*, 963 So.2d 321, 327 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2007) (“Even if there was error [from the removal of a juror], it was harmless because the juror was replaced by a duly selected alternate who was present for the entire proceedings, and we could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that using the alternate did not affect the verdict”); *Ortiz v. State*, 835 So.2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003) (“[A]ny error in removing a sleeping juror was harmless because the juror ‘was replaced by a duly selected alternate who had been present during the entire proceedings and appellant has not shown that he was prejudiced by the substitution’”) (citations omitted); *State v. Stafford*, 878 P.2d 820, 831 (Kan. 1994) (“A defendant has no right to any particular juror or to the original 12 jurors who are impaneled to hear a case”).²⁸ Absent any proof of prejudice, Appellant’s argument must fail.

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